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IMPORTANT INSTRUCTIONS FOR ANSWERING:

Please attach additional sheets if more space is required. Please identify clearly any document to which you
refer or rely upon for your answer. If the document has an Inquiry reference number, e.g. Ref: 049-001-001
which is ‘Chart No.1 Old Notes’, then please provide that nuber.

If the document does not have an Inquiry reference number, then please provide a copy of the document
attached to your statement.

N.B. In answering the below questions, and where appropriate, please detail the circumstances
throughout your appointment as Senior Medical Officer, including any changes that may have
occurred during that period.

ROLE AS SENIOR MEDICAL OFFICER
(1) State the dates on which:

(a) Youbecame Senior Medical Officer

Ans: 1 became a SMO in October 1998.

(b)  You ceased to hold that position.

Ans: 1 ceased to hold position in April 2006.
(2) Describe your career history prior to becoming Senior Medical Officer.
Ans:  Resume attached.
(3) Describe your career history since ceasing to be Senior Medical Officer.
Ans:  Resumie attached.

(4)  Please explain the Role of Senior Medical Officer and the responsibilities the role entailed.

Ans:  The role of a senior medical officer (SMO) was to provide support to senior officers within
Medical and Allied Branch and to provide professional (i.e. medical) advice to the Minister
and also to policy colleagues within the then Department of Health and Social Services.

(a) If the duties/responsibilities changed while you were in the post, please give details of
the changes and when they occurred.

Ans:  As senior medical officer my role initially focused on health promotion and disease
prevention including chairing the Teenage Parenthood Working Group, Over the
period of my time as SMO my responsibilities changed to areas predominately
associated with the strategic direction of hospital services, for example, strategic
changes arising from Developing Betler Services, service modernisation in the
Southwest of Northern Ireland and the Review of Pathology Services in Northern
Ireland.

(5) Identify to whom you were accountable in carrying out the duties of Senior Medical Officer.

Ans:  Ultimately I was accountable to the Chief Medical Officer. For some areas of work my
immediate accountable officer was either a Principal Medical Officer or Deputy Chief
Medical Officer.
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(6) In particular, please explain your responsibilities as Senior Medical Officer in regard to the
quality of care provided to patients by hospitals, including any responsibilities to ensure that
Trusts exercised their statutory duty to provide quality care.

Ans:  As a SMO I did not have any specific responsibility to ensure Trusts exercised their
statutory duty to provide quality care. Rather, my responsibility focused on working with
policy colleagues to identify the strategic direction for particular service areas and the
standards that may be appropriate to apply in Northern Ireland hospitals,

(a) Please explain how those responsibilities were fulfilled.

Auns: I fulfilled ymy responsibilities through active participation in service reviews, and being
part of the decision making process that developed recommendations for service
development or service improvement.

FORMATION OF THE WORKING GROUP

(7)  What was the system by which medical issues requiring guidelines came to the attention of
the Department?

Ans:  Medical issues requiring Guidance may have come to the attention of the Departinent
through a number of routes including:

- Service advice or Guidance developed in other parts of the UK which may have been
considered for application in Northern Ireland.

- Specific service issues that imay have indicated the need for guidance or a care pathway
to improve quality of carefpatient outcomes.

- Case specific issues that identified the potential of regional learning and may have
required guidance to be disseininated to facilitate such learning.

(@) To what extent was the process by which the Hyponatraemia Guidelines were
formulated an example of that system in practice?

Amns:  The Hyponatraemia Guidance was drafted as a response to the knowledge of a
single case in which there was a mortality associated with hyponatraemia,

(b) Please explain when, where and by whom it was decided that guidelines for
hyponatraemia would be provided by the Department.

Ans: I was asked by Dr Darragh to convene the Working Group and was advised that
this was at the CMO’s request. I was not aware of further detail on how the
decision to develop guidance or establish a Group was determined,

(8) You stated at Ref: WS-080/1, p.2 that Dr. Paul Darragh asked you on 1¢h August 2001 to
convene a working group to produce guidance on the prevention of hyponatraemia in
children. As you are aware, this Group met for the first time on 26t September 2001 (Ref:
007-048-094).

(a)  Please explain why you were asked to convene the Working Group, and what this role
entailed.
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Ans: I was asked to be a member of the Working Group established to develop guidance on
the prevention of hyponatraemia. My role was not explicitly detailed at this
juncture, but in the first instance I was asked to convene the Group.

(b) What exactly led to the establishment of the working party which prepared the
hyponatraecmia guidelines? Was it only the report of Raychel’s death or was it also
information about other events?

Ans: My understanding was that the Working Group was established as a direct
consequence of the death of Raychel Fergusoi.

(9)  You stated at Ref: WS-080/1, p.2 that “my role as Senior Medical Officer did not focus on
discovering why e children died. Rather, T was involved in action to prevent further cases of
hyponatraemia.”

(@) Please explain why one of the purposes of the working group was not to discover “wiy
the children died”.

Ans: The role of the Working Group was to develop guidance that would help prevent any
further cases of seriouslfatal hyponatraemia. It was not the role of the CMO or the
Department to investigate the deaths of individuals, Other arrangements were in place
by which the cause of death of an individual could be considered, i.e. medical post
mortems, coroner’s cases, etc,

(i)  Please explain whether any consideration was given to an investigation of “why
the children died”. If not, explain why.

Ans:  The Working Group did not give consideration to “why the children died”.
Rather, its role was to develop clear and concise advice on: the risks of
hyponatraemia; the children most at risk; how it could be prevented; and the
essential monitoring.

(ii) Please explain the assumption(s) the Working Group was working under as to
“wiy the children died”.

Ans:  When the Working Group was established I was aware of one death (Raychel
Ferguson) and the assumption of the Working Group was that her death was
associated with and may have been caused by hyponatraemia.

(b) Please explain why one of the purposes of the working group was not to discover why
the Department had not been made aware of the deaths earlier.

Ans:  The Working Group was not established to investigate why the Department had oy
had not been made aware of individual cases of hyponatraemia. This was a “task and
finish’ group establisled only to develop guidance on the prevention of hyponatraemia.

(i)  Please explain whether any consideration was given to an investigation of why
the Department had not been made aware of the deaths earlier. If not, explain

why.

Asns:  Iammnotin a position to answer this.
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(10) What were the respective roles of yourself and Dr. Paul Darragh in regard to the Working
Group that was to produce hyponatraemia guidance:

{a) Between 2001 and 2002

Ans:  Dr Darragh chaired the Working Group. Following the initial meeting, I liad the
responsibility of working with a subgroup of clinicians to draft the guidance,
ensuring that the views of clinicians were appropriately reflected and the final
version was agreed by working group members.

(b)  After the expiry of Dr. Darragh’s secondment to DHSSPS in 2002?

Ans:  After March 2002, when the guidance was issued, the Working Group ceased to exist.

(11) How did you / the Department identify the clinicians who would form the membership of
the Working Group? For example, were they selected, did they volunteer etc.

Ans: My recollection is that in determining Working Group membership, clinicians from
relevant speciality areas were identified, giving due account to appropriate geographic
distribution.

(a)  Please explain why no nursing representatives were invited.
Ans:  Idon'trecall any discussion about nursing representation on the group.

(12) What discussions (in person / by telephone / by letter / by e-mail) took place between 14t
August 2001 and 26t September 2001 as preparation for the inaugural meeting of the
Working Group?

Ans: I do not recall the detail of discussions or communications that took place between 14
August 2001 and 26" September 2001 in preparation for the inaugural meeting of the
Working Group. I do however recall Dr Taylor providing a briefing paper on
hyponatraemia.

(13) Materials prepared by Dr. Robert Taylor appear to have distributed to other Hospitals prior
to the inaugural meeting in September 2001. For example, Ref: 043-101-223 was received by
Sperrin Lakeland Trust on 10t August 2001, and Craigavon Area Hospital had a copy of a
similar document by 8% August 2001 — see Ref: 329-014-004 and Ref: 329-014-006.

(a) Please state if you saw this document (Ref: 043-101-223) prior to 26t September 2001.
Ans:  Yes, I saw this paper (Ref: 043-101-223) prior to 26 September 2001,

(b) Please state if you would have expected this information to have been made available
to the Department. If so, state by what means you would have expected it to have been
sent.

Ans:  Before an inaugural meeting of any Group it would normally be expected that the
chair would be in receipt of background information, and the material provided by
Dr. Taylor was very helpful in informing the Department of the keys issues with
regard to hyponatraemia, The Departinent would have anticipated papers to be sent
by post or electrontic mail,
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(¢) Please explain the purpose of this document.

Ans: I understood that the purpose of the document was to provide briefing material to
myself and other colleagues in advance of the first meeting of the Working Group.

(d) Please state if this document was discussed by the Working Group.

Ans: I do not recall specific discussion on the document provided by Dr Taylor but the
notes of the meeting record that Dr Taylor provided a summary of the issue,
including background, detail of those most at risk, and recommendations to prevent
hyponatraemia,

(14) Dr. Robert Taylor sent Dr. Paul Darragh a draft PowerPoint presentation by e-mail on 18%
September 2001 “for your consideration in advance of the meeting on the 26" September”. (Ref:
007-051-100) There is a handwritten note on the e-mail stating “Anne — Please copy to Miriam
McCarthy”,

(a) Please state if you received a copy of Dr. Taylor’s draft PowerPoint presentation.
Ans:  Yes, I vecall receiving a copy of the PowerPoint presentation.

(b) Please state if you would have expected to have received a copy of Dr. Taylor’s draft
Powerloint presentation?

Ans: Before an inaugural meeting of any Group it would normally be expected that the
chair would be in receipt of background information, and the material provided by
Dr. Taylor was very helpful in informing the Department of the prevalence of
hyponatraentia in the Royal Belfast Hospital for Sick children ( RBHSC).

(c) Please state if you considered these, as requested by Dr. Taylor.

Ans:  Irecall reading and noting the content of the PowerPoint presentation.
(d) Please explain what use was made of these materials by the Working Group.

Ans:  Ido not recall the PowerPoint presentation being included in papers for the Working
Group but the issues contained in the presentation were discussed at meeting of the
Working Group and subsequent meeting of the subgroup.

(e) At Ref: 007-051-103, there is a bar chart showing the incidence of hyponatraemia at the
RBHSC from 1991 to 2001, including the number of admitted cases and deaths.

(i) Please state if you saw this chart.

(ii) Please state if you recognised any significance in two deaths being recorded on
the chart.

(ili) Please describe any investigations you / the Department carried out into the
circumstances of the two deaths noted on the chart.

(15) Please explain what steps:

()  You / the Department
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Ans:  Beyond Dr Taylor’s briefing paper advising on the prevalence of hyponatraemia 1
do not recall formal steps taken by the Department to establish the prevalence of
hyponatraemia in children in hospitals in Northern Ireland.

(b) The Working Group

Ans:  Beyond Dr Taylor's briefing paper advising on the prevalence of hyponatraemia I
do not recall formal steps taken by the Working Group to establish the prevalence
of hyponatraemia in children in hospitals in Northern Ireland.

took to discover how prevalent an issue hyponatraemia in children was in hospitals in
Northern Ireland.

(16) In the minutes of the inaugural meeting of the Working Group on 26t September 2001, it is
stated that “Fluid replacenent in children is complex and while guidelines are in place for acute
management, chronic management is not as well covered.” (Ref: 007-048-094).

(@)  What guidelines were “in place for acute management”?

Ans: I cannot recall which Guidance were veferenced in the inaugural meeting  of the
Working Group.,

(b) What other guidelines were available in the area of fluid management?
Ans:  In 2001, I was not familiar with the Guidance available on fluid management.

(17) It was also stated in the minutes that “The Group felt there was a lack of a paediatrician’s view,
which if was decided was essential.” (Ref: 007-048-095).

(@)} Why was it felt that there was “a lack of a paediatrician’s view”?

Ans: It was considered by attendees af the inaugural meeting of the Working Group that
there was not sufficient representation from paediatricians.

(b) Why was this considered “essentinl”?

Ans:  The paediatric role was considered essential because paediatricians were responsible
for children in hospital and, in particular, responsible for prescribing of fluids,
including IV fluids.

(c)  Were there no paediatricians present? If so, why not?

Ans:  Dr Jenkins had been invited but was unable to attend, T recollect that it was
considered beneficial for a second paediatrician from an acute hospital site to join
the Working Group.

(d) What action was taken to gain “a paediatrician’s view"?

Ans: A paediatrician from an acute hospital, Dr Jarlath McAloon, was invited to join the
Working Group.

(18) Please explain fully the role of the sub-group as compared to the main Working Group.
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Ans:  The subgroup’s role was to draft the detail of the guidance and to share with other
working group members as reflected in my previous witness statement (WS-080/1.)
The subgroup operated as a ‘virtual group’ with conmunication being by email. This
was to facilitate more rapid progress in developing the guidance.

(19) Please identify the members of the “sub-group” responsible for drafting the guidance and
how those members came to make up the sub-group - for example, were they selected, did
they volunteer etc,

Ans:  Subgroup members included Jarlath McAloon, Clodagh Loughrey, Dr Peter Crean, Dy
John Jenkins and I. My recollection is that members volunteered for this role.

(20) A second meeting of the Working Group took place on 10t October 2001. (Ref: 007-038-072)

(a) Please state who attended this meeting,.

Ans:  Dr John Jenkins, Dr Jarlath McAloon, Dr Peter Crean and myself.

{b) Please state why there is not an attendance sheet of this meeting.

Ans:  The subgroup was not expected to undertake its work with formality and therefore an
attendance sheet would not have been considered necessary. My notes of the meeting
serve to document attendees.

(c) Please state who made the notes at Ref: 007-038-072.

Ans:  007-038-072 is my contemporaneous note of the meeting.

(d) TPlease state why there is not a typed minute of this meeting.

Ans: It was agreed that the most efficient way of developing the guidance was for issues
discussed and agreed to be directly incorporated into the guidance, rather than
separate notes detailing discussions. This means of working did not therefore result
in formal typed minutes of meetings,

(e) Please state why Professor Maurice Savage, as Professor of Paediatrics and President of
the Ulster Paediatric Society, was not inforimed of, or invited to participate on, the
original Working Group (Ref: 007-042-087).

Ans: My recollection is that if was not initially considered that the input of a paediatric
renal specialist would be required. Subsequently, however Professor Savage was
invited to participate in the Group’s work,

(i) Please state if he did attend and participate in the second meeting of the Working
Group.

Auns: 1 have no record or recollection of Professor Savage attending the meeting on 10
October.

(i) Please state if you / the Department considered following Professor Savage's
suggestion that the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health should
scrutinise any guidelines prepared.
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Ans: I cannot recall what was considered or agreed in regard to the suggestion that
the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health scrutinise the Guidance.
While the Working Group was conscious of the benefit in having as much
professional support as possible for the guidance it was also focused on issuing
guidance as quickly as possible.

{(f) Please state whether Dr. Jarlath McAloon, Consultant Paediatrician, Antrim Area
Hospital was present at this meeting. If so,

(i) Why was he there?

Ans: Dr McAloon was present at the meeting on 10 October, following an invitation
to participate in the work of the subgroup.

(i) Why was he not present at the inaugural meeting on 26th September 20017

Ans: My recollection is that Dr McAloon was invited to be a member of the Group
after the first meeting held on 26 September 2001, He had not been invited to the
inaugural meeting but was subsequently invited to ensure input from a
paediatrician working in an acute hospital.

(21) Describe the steps you / the Department took to discuss the work of the Working Group and
the issues arising with colleagues in the rest of the U.K.

Ans:  As detailed in my previous witness statement ( Ref: W5-080/1), I wrote to the NPSA in
March 2004, advising of experiences in Northern Ireland and the work to develop guidance.
In that correspondence I asked the NPSA to consider this as a matter on which they may
wish to develop UK wide guidance.

I also had contact with Dr Ted Sumner, who provided advice on the draft hyponatraemia
guidance ( Ref: 007-016-032)

I accompanied CMO to a meeting with Sir Cyril Chandler, during which he provided
advice on fluid management. The detail and a copy of my handwritten notes are included
as part of my previous witness statement ( WS-080/1)

(22) Please state if you received a copy of Dr. Taylor’s correspondence with the Medicines
Control Agency (Ref: 007-033-060). As you are aware, Dr. Taylor filed a Yellow Card Report
in respect of Solution No.18.

Ans:  1did see a copy of Dr Taylor’s correspondence

{a) Would you / the Department have expected a Yellow Card Report in relation to any of
the other children’s deaths given that hyponatraemia “is # problem that had been present
for many years”? (Ref: 007-048-094).

Ans:  “Yellow Card’ reporting is normally undertaken by clinicians in response to side
effectsladverse events associated with a medicine. It would therefore be a matter of
clinical judgement to submit a yellow card regarding a specific intravenous fluid solution.
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RESPONSE TO THE GUIDANCE

(23) Please describe the respective responses of the Special Advisory Committees on:
(a) Paediatrics
(b) General Surgery

(c) Anaesthetics
to the draft guidance produced by the Working Group.

Ans: I cannot recall the detailed responses of the Specialty Advisory Committees, bul I have
checked the wminutes of these meetings and note that the guidance was commended by
members of SAC Paediatrics and SAC Surgery. This matter was also included on the
agenda of SAC Anaesthetic (October 2001) but the views of members are not detailed

(24) Please describe any obstacles and/or difficulties the Working Group or sub-group faced in
developing the guidelines that were published in March 2002. Please include any differences
of opinion from individuals or specialties as to the content of the guidance, and any
procedures/protocols that made development more difficult.

Ans:  The greatest challenge for the Working Group was developing the Guidance in a short time
frame. This was deemed to be essential to ensure that clinical staff were well informed of
the issues and future cases of serious or fatal hyponatraemia were avoided.

I recall no difficulties arising that made the development of the guidance problematic.
Rather, subgroup menibers were committed and exceptionally helpful, providing detailed
advice and responding to draft material very promptly. They exchanged views and had
candid discussions on both the content and presentation of key messages and, in doing so,
ensured that the final document was clear, concise, accurate and easy to follow. Specific
issues on which there was discussion or debate are reflected in email correspondence
Novemntber 2001- January 2002,

One specific challenge was determining the scope of guidance, i.e. whether detail on
specific fluids should be included in the guidance, and, if so, the strength of evidence on
which advice would be based. My recollection is that this was discussed in detail and on a
number of occasions. It was agreed that the priority was to focus on the steps necessary to
prevent hyponatraemia and to monitor fluids and electrolytes. Members of the Working
Group articulated a view that, while some fluids may have a stronger association with
hyponatraemia, it could develop with the administration of any fluid (IV or oral).

(25) Please describe the response in the initial period following publication of the Guidance in
March 2002. In particular, please identify if you / the Department faced any difficulties /
opposition to any element of the Guidance. If so, please identify the areas of difficulty /
opposition.

Ans: My recollection is that the Guidance was well received and I do not vecall any difficulties
or opposition to any element of the Guidance. The CMO’s covering letter to the Guidance
highlighted the importance of the matier particularly in the context of two deaths known
to the Department at that time (Adam Strain & Raychel Ferguson).

Copies of the Guidance were requested from clinicians in the UK and in Canada.
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(26) In the letter of Dr. Henrietta Campbell, Chief Medical Officer dated 25% March 2002 (Ref:
007-001-001), she states:

“The Guidance is designed to provide general advice and does not specify particular fluid choices.
Fluid protocols should be developed locally to complement the Guidance and provide more specific
direction to junior staff. [...]. It will be important to audit compliance with the guidance and locally
developed protocols and to learn from clinical experiences.”

(a) How did the Department intend to ensure that the locally developed fluid protocols
would reflect the Guidance?

Ans: My recollection is that the Department expected Trusts to ensure that the locally
developed fluids protocols reflected the Hyponatraemia Guidance.

(b)  Who was intended to “audit compliance with the guidance”?

(i)  The Department and Trusts together
(i) The Department alone
(ili) The Trusts alone

(iv) Other organisations?

Ans:  Ido not recall that there was explicit agreement in March 2002 regarding who would
audit compliance with the Hyponatraemia Guidance.

(c) Whowas intended to “audit compliance” with the “locally developed protocols”?
(i)  The Department and Trusts together
(i) The Department alone
(ili) The Trusts alone

(iv) Other organisations?

Ans: Ido not recall that there was explicit agreement in March 2002 regarding who
would audit compliance with locally developed protocols.

(27) Dr. Jarlath McAloon conducted a Regional Audit in 2003-2004 to examine adherence to the
DHSSPS hyponatraemia guidance (Ref: 007-054-114).

(a) Why was a Regional Audit conducted?

Ans:  The regional audit was underiaken, in keeping with CMO'’s intention and expectation
as articulated when the Guidance was issued in March 2002,

(b) What was its purpose / remit?

Ans: I do not recall seeing a formal Terms of Reference for the audit but I understood its
purpose was to examine the adherence to the Hyponairaemia Guidance in paediatric
units across Northern Ireland.

() Inparticular, why was Dr. McAloon asked to conduct the audit?
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Ans: I cannot recall why Dr McAloon was the individual asked to conduct the regional
audit,

(d) What was he asked to do?

Ans: I cannot vecall precisely what was requested of Dy McAloon but understood that
what was required was an assessment of adherence to the Hyponatraemia Guidance,

() What action was taken by you / the Department in relation to the results of this audit?

Ans: Icannof recall what action was taken in relation to the findings of the audit, By the
time the audit results were available, my duties had changed and my recollection is
that my colleagse, Dr Willis, was more closely involved in this matter.

DEATHS OF ADAM, CLAIRE, LUCY & CONOR

(28) In the minutes of the inaugural meeting of the Working Group on 26th September 2001, it is
stated that “Dr. Taylor informed the meeting about the background, incidence of cases seen in
RBHSC and patients who are particularly at risk of hyponatraemia. This is a problem that had been
present for many years.” (Ref: 007-048-094).

(@) Please explain what Dr. Taylor discussed at that time regarding the “inciderce of cases
seent in RBHSC”. In particular, state if he discussed the deaths of Adam, Claire or Lucy.

Ans: I recall Dy Taylor highlighting one death, that of Raychel Ferguson. I also recall Dr
Taylor advising attendees of the increased identification of cases of hyponatraeinia
in the RBHSC, including 2 cases resulting in fatality.

(b) Please state if Adam, Claire or Lucy’s cases were discussed at the meetings of:

(i) 26t September 2001
(if) 10t October 2001.

Ans: 1Ido not recall any discussions of Adam, Claire or Lucy’s cases at meetings held 26"
September or 10" October 2001,

() Please describe the knowledge of the Department in relation to the statement that “Tlis
[hyponatraemia] is a problent that had been present for many years.”

Ans: My recollection is that in 2001 the Department was not aware that “hyponatraemia
is a problem that had been present for many years”. Rather I understood it was a
matter that tad just been brought to the attention of the CMO in the sunmer of 2001,

(29) At Ref: WS-080/1, p.2, you state that you became aware of Adam Strain’s death in
December 2001 through a conversation with the Coroner and that he subsequently
forwarded the medical report on Adam Strain, Please describe your reaction to discovering
another death in which hyponatraecmia was identified as a cause of death, and what action
you took as a response.

Ans:  When made aware of Adam Strain’s death, this reinforced my view that guidance was
necessary and that it should be finalised and issued at the earliest opportunity.
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(30) Likewise, at Ref: WS-080/1, p.2, you state that you became aware of Lucy Crawford’s death
in March 2003 through a further conversation with the Coroner. Please describe your
reaction to discovering another death in which hyponatraemia was identified as a cause of
death, and what action you took as a response.

Ans:  When in March 2003 I was made aware of Lucy’s death, I recall noting that it was unusual
for a death to be reported to the coroner almost 3 years after the death, I informed the
CMO of my telephone call from the coroner

(31) How and when did you first become aware of the death of Claire Roberts?

Ans:  I'became aware of the death of Claire Roberts when her death was included in the remit of
the Hyponatraemia Inquiry.

(32) How and when did you first become aware of the death of Conor Mitchell?

Ans: My recollection is that I became aware of the death of Conor Mitchell shortly before the
inquest into his death was due to be heard.

(@) What did you / the Department regard as the implications of Conor’s death for the
successful implementation of the guidelines?

Ans: My recollection is that Conor's death emphasised the need for hyponatraemia
guidance to apply to children wherever they are cared for in hospital (i.e. within
paediatric or other settings).

(33) What discussions did you / the Department have with:
(a) Colleagues in the DHSSPS

(b) Colleagues in other hospitals
regarding the failure to inform the Department of Adam / Claire / Lucy’s deaths.

Ans: I do not recall discussions with Departmental colleagues or with colleagues in any
hospital on the failure to inform the Department of Adam/Claire/Lucy’s death.

CREST MEETINGS

(34) You attended a meeting of CREST on 8% November 2001 (Ref: 075-066-210). The minutes
record your involvement as follows:

“Dr. Stewart reporied thal the Department had appronched CREST regarding the dissemination and
‘kite marking’ of guidelines on the Prevention of Hyponatraemia in Children Recefving Intravenous
Fluids. He introduced Dr. McCarthy, DHSSPS, who stated that the problem had come to the
attention of the Department through clinicians, who reported an increase in the condition and felt in
need of urgent guidance.” (Ref: 075-066-213).

(@) Please explain what you meant by clinicians having “reported an increase in the
condition”.

Ans: My recollection is that this referred to input from clinicians who were members of the
Working Group, in which the number of cases of hyponatracmia in the RBHSC was
discussed. While the majority of such cases were treated and not associated with

14
DF1/13/619173-CR/RM

INQ - DHSSPS WS-080/2 Page 14




mortality, to were reported in children who had died. The reference to ‘an increase
in the condition’ refers to the total of cases identified, both those rvesulting in
morbidity and those associated with mortality.

(35) You also attended a meeting of CREST on 27t February 2002 (Ref: 075-073-276). The minutes
record your involvement as follows:

“Dr. McCarthy, Senior Medical Officer, DHSSPS, reported that some months ago, the Department
had been approached by Paediatricians, expressing concerns over an increase in the condition of
Hyponatraemia and had felt in need of urgent guidance..” (Ref: 075-073-276).

(@) Please explain what you meant by paediatricians having “expressled] concerns over an
increase in the condition of Hyponatraemia”.

Ans:  Ihave answered this question in respect of Q 34 and the same answer applies.

DISSEMINATION OF INFORMATION
(36) Please explain your role and responsibilities in the dissemination of information / guidelines
/ policies to Trusts and Hospitals. In particular:

(a) How were new guidelines / practices which were developed elsewhere in the UK.
considered and adapted for use in Northern Ireland?

Ans:  As a SMO I did not have any overarching role or responsibility in the dissemination
of information/Guidancelpolicies to Trusts and Hospitals.

However within specific areas of work I may have been involved in issuing guidance
and in considering UK guidance and the potential benefit of adopting, or adapting
such guidance for application in Northern Ireland. I recall that when issuing
guidance the Department would normally include relevant training bodies in a
circulation list.

(b) How does new guidance find its way into medical training, at undergraduate and
postgraduate level?

Ans:  How such guidance would then find its way into medical training would be a matter
for the relevant university and, for post graduate training, for the Northern Ireland
Medical and Dental Training Agency (NIMDTA).

(c) How were issues that required the production of guidelines / policies flagged up to
you or the Department by Trusts and Hospitals?

(i)  The quality of care provided to patients
(ii) Ensuring that Trusts exercised their statutory duty to provide quality care

(iii) The implementation of guidelines / practices

Ans: I recollect that there were a range of mechanisms by which issues requiring guidance
could be identified, These included letters to the CMO or policy colleagues, or
discussion at Speciality Advisory Committees,
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(37) How is it decided that an issue is one which can be handled by, or is limited to, a Jocal
hospital as opposed to something that is of regional significance?

Ans: My recollection is that this was decided on the basis of a judgement on the relevance of the
issue to a single hospital or to all such facilities.

(38) Were there communications between the Chief Medical Officer and her team and any other
parts of the Department about the performance of trusts in any of the following matters:

(a) Patient safety and care
(b) Quality of care

(c) Clinical governance
(d) Clinical complaints

(e) Clinical audit?

Ans:  Twould not have been closely involved in communication between CMO and other parts of
the Department on these matters.

(39) If there were communications of the kind mentioned:
(a) Identify those with whom the CMO's team communicated.

(b) Tlease give examples of the matters which were the subject of the communications
(c)  Were there established systems /forums in the Department for such communications?

Ans:  In light of my response to Q38, I am unable to provide the further detail required in
response to this question.

(40) What did you / the Department consider to be the role of the RBHSC in the dissemination of
lessons learned / guidelines / protocols?

Ans: My recollection is that the Department considered all paediatric units to play a major role
in the dissemination of Guidance as requested by the CMO in her covering letter to the
Guidance.

(a)  What would you have liked the RBHSC's role to have been?

Ans: I understood that the role of the RBHSC would be pivotal, as the regional children’s
hospital,

(b) The 2002 Guidelines state at Ref: 006-054-438: “In the event of problems that cannot be
resolved locally, help should be sought from Consultant Paediatricians / Anaesthetists af the
PICU, RBHSC”

(i) How did the Department decide that the RBHSC was going to take that role?

Ans:  This matter was not decided by the Departinent. Rather, it was suggested by
Working Group members who recognised that, in complex cases, the clinicians
in the PICU in RBHSC were best placed to provide the necessary expert advice.
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(ify What was the kind of role the Department expected the RBISC to have
generally?

Ans:  Ido not recollect that the Department had explicit expectations for clinicians in
the RBHSC, but was content that, in light of their expertise, they would be a
source of advice for clinicians across Northern Ireland.

(41) Would you have expected the deaths of:
(a) Adam Strain
(b) Claire Roberts
{c) Lucy Crawford

to have been reported to you or the Department under the informal system? If so,
(i)  To whom in the Department would it be reported?

(i) What action, if any, would you have expected the Department to take?

Ans:  Within the systems and procedures in place from 1997-2000 I cannot recall the
specific expectations of the Department in regard to amy informal system of
reporting of deaths. In my role as advisor within the Medical & Allied branch, I
would not have had responsibility for or been involved in discussions on this
matter, Any response to this question would be speculative. Iwas not working in
the Department between 1992 and 1997,

(42) Would you have expected the Department to have been informed of the statement produced
by the RBHSC following the Inquest of Adam Strain? (Ref: 011-014-107a) If so,

(a) To whom in the Department would it be reported?

(b) What action, if any, would you have expected the Department to take?

Ans: I have answered this question in vespect of Q 41 and the same answer applies.
(43) Would you have expected:
(a) The death of Adam Strain
(b) The statement produced by the RBHSC at Adam’s Inquest (Ref: 011-014-107a)
(¢} Claire Roberts
(d) Lucy Crawford

to have been raised at a Special Advisory Committee (particularly the SAC on Anaesthetics
in relation to (b))?

Ans: I have answered this question in respect of Q 41 and the saine answer applies.

(44) You have told the Inquiry (Ref: WS-080/1, p.2) that you first became aware of the death of
Lucy Crawford in March 2003. Arising from that;
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(@) Please confirm whether you / the Department were made aware by the Sperrin
Lakeland Trust during the period 2000-2002 of any untoward deaths occurring
following treatment in the Trust’s hospitals?

Ans: I was not aware of any communication between Sperrin Lakeland Trust and the
Departuent regarding untoward deatlis during the period 2000-2002.

(b) Would you have expected the Sperrin Lakeland Trust to have made you or the
Department aware of the untoward and unexplained death of a seventeen month old
child following treatment at the Erne Hospital? Please give reasons for your answer.

Ans:  In the absence of a formal reporting mechanism in 2000, my understanding was that
the Department would not necessarily have expected the Spesrin Lakeland Trust to
have made officials aware of an unexplained deatl.

(45) What do you consider to have been the main impetus behind the creation of a formal adverse
incident reporting system from 20027

Ans: My understanding is that the adverse reporting system established in 2002 was in keeping
with similar measures in other parts of the UK and the impetus was to establish a system
by which through the reporting of rare events, patterns may be identified and regional
learning taken forward,

(46) Why was a formal approach not adopted for adverse incident reporting prior to 2002?

Ans:  This would have been outside my responsibilities and I am not in a position to comment.

(47) Prior to 2002, what would you / the Department have expected Trusts / Iospitals to have
done (if anything) in regard to informing you when cases involving deaths due to possible
medical mismanagement were involved in:

(a) Formal complaint procedures
(b) Coroner’s Inquests
() Medical negligence actions

Ans: I have answered this question in respect of Q 46 and the same answer applies.

(48) The final report of the Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry, chaired by
Robert Francis Q.C. was published on Wednesday 6% February 2013. One of its key
recommendations was that of ‘openness and candour’, namely that: “Every healthcare
organisation and everyone working for them must be honest, open and truthful in all their dealings
with patients and the public, and organisational and personal interests must never be allowed to
outweigh the duty to be honest, open and truthful.”

{a) What were your / the Department’s expectations of how the Trusts dealt with the
deaths of Adam / Claire / Raychel / Lucy, and how did their actions meet or fail to
meet your expectations?

Ans: I have answered this question in respect of Q 46 and the same answer applies

(b) What were your / the Department’s expectations in situations where the Trust(s)
withheld relevant documents on grounds of privilege?

18
DF1/13/619173-CR/RM

INQ - DHSSPS WS-080/2 Page 18




Ans: It is not possible for me to answer this question which I interpret as being one about
the legal implications of actions

() What were your / the Department’s expectations in situations where the Trust(s) did
not make public acceptance of liability in medical negligence actions?

Ans: It is not possible for me to answer this question which I interpret as being one about
the legal implications of actions

(49) In relation to the Specialty Advisory Committee (SACs):
(a) Please describe their purpose.

Ans: My understanding was that the SACs provided a forum for discussion with the CMO
on strategic issues, service provision and workforce planning.

(b) Please state when they were created

Ans: Ido not know when SACs were created.

(c) Please explain why they were created

Ans: Ido not know the rationale for the creation of SACs,

(d) Please state whether you agree with the evidence of Dr. Elaine Hicks, Consultant
Pacdiatric Neurologist, RBHSC at the Oral Hearings (Transcript, 7¢ June 2013, p.22)
where she stated in relation to SACs:

“I think many of us were not convinced that it was as effective as it might have been.”

Ans: I am not in a position to comment on Dy Hicks’ evidence, I attended a range of SACs
as a medical secretary and was aware that they provided a useful forum for
discussion. I was also aware that there was a view among Departmental colleagues
and SAC members that the frequency of meetings (most were annual) meant the
imeetings were not designed to facilitate a response to the wide range of issues arising
between meetings and for which alternative mechanisms were needed.

(50) Inrelation to the “CMO update™:

{a) Please describe its purpose.

Ans: The CMO Update’s purpose was to provide a regular communication with the
medical profession on key matters of importance.

(b) Please state when it was started.

Ans: I note from records that the CMO update was established in 1994 and subsequently
issued on a quarterly basis,

() Please explain why it was started

Ans:  Twas not working in the Department in 1994 and canmot comment on this.
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(d) Please explain who produced it and who decided its contents

Ans: My recollection is that the CMO update was produced by a SMO or medical officer
in Medical and Allied branch, with administrative support,

(e) Please explain what preceded it in terms of provision of information.

Ans:  Iam not aware of what preceded the CMO update prior to 1994.
MEDIA INTERVIEWS 2003/04

The Inquiry has been given several transcripts of interviews Dr. Campbell gave as Chief Medical
Officer to the media in the aftermath of Lucy and Raychel’s deaths:

o 170 February 2003 — UTV (Ref: 069A-033-078)

» 17% March 2004 — BBC Radio Ulster Evening Extra (Ref: 034-151-407)
¢ 25% March 2004 - UTV’s “The Issue”{Ref: 006-037-375)

o 25t May 2004 - The Impartial Reporter (Ref: 034-142-372)

At the time, you were providing briefing papers and lines to take for the Minister(s) for Health,
Social Services and Public Safety, which you were also sending to Dr. Campbell (e.g. Ref: 006-039-
389 and 004-003-011). The Inquiry would be grateful if you could address the following comments
made by Dr. Campbell:

(51) What system did you / the Department have for researching to prepare briefing papers and
lines?

Ans:  When providing briefing I normally provided a summary of the relevant events and
timeline. I would also, where relevant, provide background information on the matter in
question, the frequency with which it may occur and its implications. When preparing
submissions for the Minister, these would normally have been approved by CMO, or one of
her deputies priot to being forwarded to the Minister,

Information provided in briefing papers was normally sourced from papers received from
Trusts, commissioners, the coroner or other relevant parties.

For background information I would typically have extracted information from medical
text books, e.g. Kumayr and Clark or similar.,

(52) What research did you do to prepare these particular papers?

Ans:  For the particular papers cited I cannot vecall the details of source papers but recollect that
I drew information from the summary findings of the inquest, information from the post
mortem and information presented in the hyponatraemia guidance.

(83)  “Of course it happens occasionally in very ill patients but we have never before seen it in a healthy
child.” (Ref: 069A-033-078)

(@) Please state whether you agreed with this statement in 2003.
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Ans: I agree with Dr Campbell’s comment that ‘it happens occasionally in very ill
patients’

In regard to the second part of the sentence I am not entirely sure to what the term
‘we’ applies. Assuming it is the Department, yes I agree that the Department may

not have been aware of fatal hyponatraemia occurving in a previously healthy
child.

(b) Please explain whether you and Dr. Campbell discussed this opinion, either before or
after the interview.

Ans: It would have been normal practice for Dy Campbell to discuss with myself and
other colleagues the relevant issues prior to any media interview and to specifically
cover the key messages and how they were best articulated for the particular
aundience.

My recollection is that the matter in question was discussed with Dy Campbell
before media interviews. I cannot, however recall the detail or date of discussions
on this particular matter.

(54) Dr. Campbell commented that Adam Strain’s case was “an entirely different clinical situation”
(Ref: 069A-033-078) to that of Raychel Ferguson.

(a) Please state whether you agreed with this statement in 2003.

Ans: I agree with Dr Campbell’s comment. When Departinental colleagues and myself
became aware of the children whose deaths were associated with hyponatraemia
we were aware that the clinical circumstances of each case were different, In
particular we were aware that Adam Strain’s case had aspects not shared in all the
other cases — most notably he was a child with chronic renal disease, admitted for
an elective procedure. My understanding was that other cases, (particularly Lucy
Crawford and Raychel Ferguson) occurved in children previously well, admitted
with an acute episode of illness,

(b) Please explain whether you and Dr. Campbell discussed this opinion, either before or
after the interview.

Ans: My recollection is that the matter in question was discussed with Dr Campbell
before media interviews. I cannot, however vecall the detail or date of discussions
on this particular matter.

(55)  “It happens very rarely, but it has happened before. We didn’t know that but we have now been able
to put in place meastires to help prevent it happening again.” (Ref: 069A-033-079)

(a) Please state whether you agreed with this statement in 2003.

Ans: I agree with this statement. The measures initiated by CMO to develop and
publish guidance did ensure that concise and accessible advice was available to all
clinicians caring for children who required prescribed fluids. 1understand this to be
a major step in helping prevent any further cases of serious hyponatraemia,

(b) Please explain whether you and Dr. Campbell discussed this opinion, either before or
after the interview.
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Ans:  The impact of introducing the guidance and its role in preventing further cases of
serious hyponatraemia was discussed on a number of occasions. This included
discussion during the development of the guidance and subsequently after its
publication when the CMO took steps to audit its use.

(56)  “What we have recognised in the Health Service in the whole of the UK. over recent years, is that by
putting information together from every quarter of the UK., that we can learn from the rare event, the
untoward events. [...] Northern Ireland [...] is too small a place to effectively learn those lessons from
rare events, so therefore we need to be part of a bigger picture.”(Ref: 069A-033-079)

(a) DPlease explain what has been done since June 2001 to put information together “front
every quarter of the ULK.”

Ans: I was not directly involved in measures to ensure that Northern Ireland learned
“from every quarter of the UK”. I understand, however, that, among other things,
participation in UK audits — such as the Congenital Cardiac Audit Database
(CCAD), the Cardiac Surgery National Audit, the National Joint Registry and a
nummber of national cancer audits, we have been able to learn of service
improvements and identify patterns in disease, morbidity and mortality.

(b) Please explain whether you agreed, in 2004, with Dr. Campbell’s statement that
“Northern Ireland [...] is too small a place to effectively learn those lessons fromi rare events” in
the context of the deaths under investigation by the Inquiry.

Ans: 1 agree, in part, with Dr Campbell’s comment. With the relatively small
population in Northern Ireland I understand that for some disease areas we will be
too small to learn from rare events — an example is in paediatric cardiac surgery
where we contribute to CCAD so that patterns can be identified for the entire
population undergoing surgery across the UK.

Howeuver, if I consider this matter in regard to more commonly occurring events I
do not agree with Dr Campbell’s comment. For these events, there is the
opportunity to learn from the Northern Ireland position and this premise
underpinned the establishment of the Serious Adverse Incident (SAI) reporting
system within Northern Ireland.

(57) “What we know now is that the fluids which were given to Lucy were the ones that were being used in
ordinary custom and practice throughout the whole of the NHS except for one or two practitioners
who'd begun fo recognise this issue of hyponatraemia where the body goes through this abnormal
response in just a very few cases and you being to get vedema or swelling of the brain.” (Ref: 034~
151-407)

(a) Please state whether you agreed with this statement in 2004.

Ans: I agree with the comments that the fluids prescribed to Lucy were those ‘used in
ordinary custom and practice...” I recall that the fluids administered to Lucy were
being used across the health service — and continued io be used widely until the
NPSA published guidance in 2004

In regard to Dr Campbell’s comment “where the body goes through this abnornal
response in just a very few cases’, I agree that such events are rare, but I would not
agree with the terminology ‘absormal reaction’.
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My understanding was that this was not necessarily an ‘abnormal reaction’,
Rather, T understood that increased ADH secretion was a physiological response to
stress, such as infection or surgery, and could therefore be considered as a child’s
anticipated response to such stress. This was emphasised in the guidance which
advised that “stress, pain and nausea are all potent stimulators of ADH which
inhibits water excretion”,

Notwithstanding the above, I recognise that this is a complex matter and that I do
#not have expertise in this area. The evidence of one of the Inquiry’s expert
witnesses, Dr Jupp, stressed the complexity of hyponatraemia, suggesting that
there may be some factors that can make one child more susceptible and vulnerable
while another child of the same age and same situation may not have had reacted
in the sante manner.

In this, as in many interviews, the CMO would have liad the challenging role of
translating a complex matter into user-friendly accessible language. For
particularly complicated matters, this has the potential consequence that the level
of technical detail provided simply cannot reflect all of the relevant facts about the
matter in question.

(b) Please explain whether you and Dr. Campbell discussed this opinion, either before or
after the interview.

Ans: I rvecall this particular matter being discussed with Dr Campbell and other
Departmental colleagues in advance of the interviews on 17" March and 25%
Mavrch.

(58)  “On speaking with Sperrin Lakeland Trust it's quite clear that they did not realise at the time, nor
would they have been expected to, that there were implications for the wider service from the case.”
(Ref: 034-151-408)

(a) Please explain whether you agreed, in 2004, with Dr. Campbell’s statement that Sperrin
Lakeland Trust would not have been expected to realise that there were implications
for wider service from Lucy’s case.

Ans:  Yes I agree with Dy Campbell’s comment. At the time of Lucy’s death there was no
formal mechanism by which Trusts could readily rveport matters that could
potentially have implications for the wider service

(59) “This new and enterging problem of hyponatraemia or retention of fluids in a very small number of
children” (Ref: 034-151-408)

(a) Please explain whether you agreed, in 2004, with Dr. Campbell’s statement that the
problem of hyponatraemia or retention of fluids was “new” and/or “emerging”.

Ans: It was my understanding, based on discussions with the Working Group members,
that hyponatraemia, or retention of fluids, reflected a child’s physiological
response to stresses and as such was unlikely to be new.

However, I agree with Dy Campbell’s comments in the context that what was
recognised and understood was that awareness and recognition of the risks needed
to be improved among clinicians prescribiing fluids to children.
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(60) “With Lucy, we saw the first test of what was a very rare occurrence, written up in the medical
journals only recently” (Ref: 006-037-375)

(a) Please state whether you agreed with this statement in 2004.

Ans: I agree with Dr Campbell’s comment to the extent that serious hyponatraemia was
rare and the evidence was emerging, as reflected in the Hyponatraemia Guidance
issued to Trusts in 2002. I was aware that there had been a number of journal
publications on this matter.

(b)  Please explain whether you and Dr. Campbell discussed this opinion, either before or
after the interview.

Ans: My recollection is that the matter in question was discussed with Dr Campbell
before media interviews. I cannot, however recall the detail or date of discussions
on this particular matter.

(61) “The rarity in these 2 events [the deaths of Litcy and Raychell was the abnormal reaction which is
seen in a very few children to the normal application...” (Ref: 006-037-377)

(@)  Please explain if you considered / consider that Lucy and Raychel received a “normal
application” of IV fluids.

Ans: I am not in a position to conunent on whether Lucy or Raychel received a "normal
application” of IV fluids. The coroner in each case concluded that the fluids
received by Lucy and Raychel contributed to their hyponatraemia and subsequent
demise,

(62) “In the knowledge of the evidence which has been in the medical journals over the past 4 years since
Lucy’s death, [the coroner’s findings are correct], but in the light of what was known in Hie medical
community throughout the whole of the LLK. in the year 2000, when poor Lucy died, there were very
few people who would have known what was going wrong, apart from one or two experts who had
begun to notice the very abnormal renction in certain children.” (Ref: 006-037-378)

(@)  What do you consider “was known in the medical community throughout the whole of the
UK. in the year 2000” regarding the dangers of hyponatraemia?

Ans: I would not have been familiar with what exactly was known in the medical
community in the year 2000. In preparing the Hyponatraemia Guidance, however,
working group members confirmed that knowledge and skills relating to paediatric
hyponatraemia in children, its prevention and management were not widely
available across the health service, hence the urgent need to prepare and
disseminate guidance.

In subsequent work as a member of the NPSA Working Group on hyponatraemia I
was made aware that similarly, across the UK, it was considered that the ability
to identify, monitor and treat hyponatraemia in children were not sufficiently
known in the medical community,

(b) Please explain whether you agreed, in 2004, with Dr. Campbell’s statement that “Here
were very few people who would have known what was going wrong”.

24
DF1/13/619173-CR/RM

INQ - DHSSPS WS-080/2 Page 24




Ans:  In light of my response to 62 (a) I would agree with Dr Campbell’s comment that
too few people would have had the knowledge to fully understand what “what was
going wrong',

(63) “The coroner and I together, both recognise that these 2 tragic deaths [Lucy and Raychel’s} brought
together as a patiern, then allowed us, fo put two and two together and to recognise that there were
some strange but rather unique features afoot which needed to be taken into...” (Ref: 006-037-378)

(a) Please explain whether you consider / considered that Lucy and Raychel’s cases
shared “strange but rather unique features”.

Ans: I am not entirely sure what was meant by ‘strange and unique’ and il is therefore
difficult for e to comment on this.

The CMO requested the development of Hyponatraemia Guidance in 2001,
following the death of Raychel Ferguson. Subsequent knowledge of other deaths,
including those of Adam Strain and Lucy Crawford, confirmed the need for
guidance, which had been disseminated to Trusts before Lucy’s death was known to
the Department.

My recollection is that the clinical circumstances of each of these cases was
consistent with the type of cases cited in the guidance, which included specific
reference to post-operative circumstances, and vomiting and diarrhoea. Therefore,
while serious lyponatraemia is rare, I would not necessarily have described the
circumstances as ‘strange and unique’

(b) Please explain if you recognised any pattern between the deaths of Raychel Ferguson
and Adam Strain.

Ans: At the time the Hyponatraemia Guidance was in preparation and Working Group
members were aware of the deaths of Raychel Ferguson and Adam Strain, I recall
recognising some common factors — including operative intervention, aspects of the
monitoring, fluid requirement and fluid type. It would not, however, have been my
role to make any formal assessment of patterns between the deaths of Raychel
Ferguson and Adam Strain.

(64) “Going back to the year 2000, it would not have been unusual for a doctor or a grotip of experts not to
have recognised what happened to Lucy. It is easier to do that in the knowledge of what has been
presented to us through the medical journals in the last 4 years.” (Ref: 006-037-379)

(a) Please state whether you agreed with this statement in 2004.

Ans:  Yes, I agree with Dr Campbell’s comment., By 2004, the hyponatraemia guidance
iad been in place for 2 years in Northern Ireland. It would, therefore have been
expected that compliance with the Guidance would have facilitated clinicians in
preventing hyponatraemia, and in recognising its signs and symptoms.

(b) Please explain whether you and Dr. Campbell discussed this opinion, either before or
after the interview,

Ans:  The benefits of preparing and disseminating guidance and its impact on increasing
awareness of hyponatraemia and improving measures to prevents its occurrence
would have been discussed with CMO prior to media interviews.
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(65) Provide any further points and comments that you wish to make, together with any relevant
documents.

THIS STATEMENT IS TRUE TO THE BEST OF MY
KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF

Signed: rond o {
Dated: v _(’:7&:’?/9 do. hev 5'“)73 \
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Chair, North/ South Feasibility Study 2007 -2009.

Senior Responsible Officer, Review of Pathology Services 2005- 2007

Chair, Teenage Parenthood Strategy 2001-2006

Member, NPSA Hypotonic Fluids Group 2005 — 2006.

Project manager, Guidance on Management of Gynaecological cancer 2003

L.ead author, Guidance to prevent Hyponatraemia in children receiving [V fluids 2003
Co-Chair N/S Paediatric Cardiac Group 2005-2011

Member, Working Group on Paediattic Cardiac Services 2012-2013

Member, Regional Radiotherapy Programme Board 2011-present

Chair, Regional Radiotherapy workforce Planning Group

Chair and member of regional service reviews including Review of Genetics, Cardiac
surgery, Review of Cardiology, Review of Neonatology, 2002-2011

PRIZES

Delta Omega Public Health Award Awarded by the University of Minnesota
June 1994,

Stevenson Prize in Public Health Awarded by the Northern Ireland Affairs

Committee, Faculty of Public Health
Medicine, 1998.
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WORK FOR OTHER ORGANISATIONS IN THE HEALTH SERVICES

Member of a NICE Technology Appraisal Commiitee 2013-

WORK FOR CHARITIES / SOCIETIES

Council Member of the Ulster Medical Society. 2002-2005
Trustee for Pennell, a national charity promoting the health of older women. 1999-2004

Trustee for Hope for Youth, a charity promoting life opportunities for youth ~ 2012-
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Addition and amendment to WS-080-2 - Dr Miriam McCarthy

Please find an addition to my witness statement regarding Q. 14(e)

(i) Yes, | recall seeing the bar chart

(ii) The inclusion of two deaths in the data emphasised the need for evidence to be
produced without delay

(iii) The Department did not conduct investigations into the circumstances of the two
deaths. My response to 9(a) provides the rationale for this position
My other amendments are as follows:-

Q32 - | became aware of the death of Conor Mitchell on 13 May 2003, and informed the
CMO and Dr Carson immediately.

Q57 - Amend last line to read until the NPSA issued a safety alert in 2007
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